STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County  
Honorable Roger M Young

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND  
TREATMENT OF CRAIG A CARROLL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000697

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Mar 29 2021**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

JAMES FALK

Falk Law Firm  
PO Box 1058  
CHARLESTON, SC 29402  
(843) 606-6007

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

At Appellant's Sexually Violent Predator annual review hearing under SC Code § 44-48-110, whether the trial court applied the wrong burden of proof, in violation of due process, when it looked beyond the mere existence or non-existence of evidence and instead considered the weight of the evidence that Appellant presented to determine whether Appellant provided probable cause that his condition had so changed that he was safe to be released from the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment program.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

After a jury trial in Berkeley Court of Common Pleas, the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, on April 12, 2017, committed Appellant to the Department of Mental Health as a sexually violent predator. On July 29, 2019 Appellant received his Annual Examination and Review Hearing Notice and elected to not waive his annual review hearing. (R. p. 1). On January 16, 2020 an annual review hearing was held in the Berkeley County before the Honorable Roger M Young. (R. p. 4). James Bogle represented the State and James Falk represented Appellant. On January 22, 2020 Judge Young entered an order denying Appellant a release hearing. (R. p. 65). On February 23, 2020 Appellant filed a timely Motion to Reconsider. (R. p. 67). On March 24, 2020 Judge Young denied Appellant's motion to reconsider. (R. p. 70).

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

At Appellant's Sexually Violent Predator annual review hearing under SC Code § 44-48-110 the trial court applied the wrong burden of proof, in violation of due process, when it looked beyond the mere existence or non-existence of evidence and instead considered the weight of the evidence that Appellant presented to determine whether Appellant provided probable cause that his condition had so changed that he was safe to be released from the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment program.

Individuals committed to the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program (SVPTP) must receive an annual evaluation to review whether that person's *mental abnormality or personality disorder has so changed that the person is safe to be at large and, if released, is not likely to commit acts of sexual violence*. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-110. At an annual review hearing a person committed under the SVP Act may petition the court for a release hearing. *id.* If at the annual review hearing the individual establishes probable cause that his condition has changed, the court must schedule a release hearing. *id.* At the January 16, 2020 Annual Review hearing Appellant was seeking an order directing the clerk to schedule a release hearing.

At the annual hearing Appellant called Dr. Yadira Baez Lockard to testify. Dr Lockard is a licensed forensic and clinical psychologist with both Masters and Doctoral degrees in Psychology. Dr Lockard is in private practice and had testified in South Carolina courts as an expert in the fields of clinical and forensic psychology at least eighty times. (R. p. 16 line 13 – p. 17 line 8). Dr Lockard has experience in South Carolina, Kentucky and Illinois in both the treatment and evaluation of sex offenders. (R. p. 17 line 16 – p. 18 line 11). The trial court permitted Dr Lockard to testify as an expert in the field of forensic psychology. ( R. p. 20, lines 3-4). The State called Dr. Michelle Jones to testify. Prior to

Appellant's hearing, Dr Jones testified for the State in an SVP Annual Review hearing against another client of Appellant's counsel. Based upon the record made at the previous hearing, Dr Jones was permitted to testify as an expert in the field of forensic psychology. (R. p. 35 line 20 – p. 36 line 5).

During her direct testimony Appellant asked Dr Lockard to explain her opinion that Appellant no longer poses a threat if released from the SVPTP. Dr Lockard testified that she based her opinion on: her three interviews with Appellant, (R. p. 20 lines 19 – 21); additional three hours of psychological testing (R. p. 21 lines 8-10); her review of the facilities' treatment records, prior annual evaluations, and documents from the original commitment trial (R. p. 21 lines 14 – 20); and, Appellant's arrest warrants, victim statements, and incident reports (R. p. 21 line 24 – p. 22 line 4). Dr Lockard opined that Appellant suffered from Antisocial Personality Disorder but he no longer would pose a threat if released. (R. p. 22 lines 15-16). In response to counsel's question relating to Appellant's change in condition she replied that she based her opinion on: *the evaluation from even his treatment team as well as information regarding his dynamic factors as well as stability of functioning.* (R. p. 22 line 24 – p. 23 line 3). Additionally she testified that she disagreed with the other evaluator's scoring of Appellant's Static 99-R. <sup>1</sup> Based on her opinion his Static 99-R score was a 3 which placed him at an average risk level for re-offending and that ninety-two percent of offenders with a similar score **did not** recidivate within five years of release. (R. p. 24 lines 16 – 19).

---

<sup>1</sup> The Static-99R is an actuarial tool consisting of ten questions that have been proven significantly related to sexual offending. In re Chapman, 419 S.C. 172, 176 n.3, 796 S.E.2d 843, 845 (2017).

With the exception of scoring changes related to age, an offender's score on the Static-99R will not change. However, progress in treatment can be evaluated by reviewing the individual's dynamic risk factors. Dr Lockard testified that since he began treatment there were positive changes in his dynamic risk factors. (R. p 23 line 20 – p. 24 line 16) For example, prior evaluators opined that one of Appellant's dynamic risk factors was resistance to rules. However, Dr Lockard noted that *Appellant has not had any major infractions for a period of ... two years. So as a result this was not a problematic pattern of behavior for him and meeting a dynamic factor for him.* (R. p. 25 lines 12-16). Another example is that prior evaluators found that Appellant expressed beliefs that justified or excused his sexual offending. Dr Lockard stated *that throughout his records at the Department [SCDMH] it stated that he had not excused his behavior or justified any of his sexual offending behaviors. He did not make any statements to holding any belief that children enjoyed sex or [that] children --- child sex is harmless.* (R. p. 25 lines 1-5)

Dr Lockard conducted various psychological tests or assessments including the Shipley Institute Scale of Intelligence, MMPI, Hare Psychopathy, and the SASSI-3, the results of which supported her opinion. (R. p. 26 line 23 – p. 27 line 19). Since there is an overlap between psychopathy and antisocial personality disorder her evaluation of Appellant using HARE assessment tool was particularly relevant and supported her opinion because it indicated Appellant respected the rights of others, was empathetic and was not narcissistic. (R. p. 24 line 10 – p. 25 line 12). Based on her evaluation of Appellant's response on the MMPI-2 she opined that Appellant was being truthful open and forthcoming with her during the interviews; he was receptive to treatment; and that did not show signs that he was struggling with anger or experiencing difficulty controlling his behavior. (R. p 25 line 13 – p. 26 line 19).

Dr Jones opined that Appellant's personality disorder had not so changed that Appellant would be safe to be at large if released. (R. p. 57 lines 7-11). At Appellant's original commitment hearing he was diagnosed with Antisocial Personality Disorder along with a paraphilic disorder namely Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder, Biastophilia. Both the State's expert as well as Appellant's expert testified that they could no longer diagnosis Appellant as suffering from any paraphilic disorder. (R. p. 22 lines 9-10 and p. 39 lines line 17 – p. 40 line 17);

In denying Appellant's request to schedule a review hearing the trial court stated:

Careful consideration was given to the testimony presented, to include the progress Respondent has made in treatment and his diagnosis. The determination by the Court in this matter was made more difficult because se Respondent did present testimony from a psychologist recognized as an expert witness by the Court. ***The Court found itself in a position of having to weigh the credibility and the presentation of all witnesses.*** After the testimony, it would reasonably appear that there were distinct differences in the calculation of the Respondent's score on the actuarial assessments, to include the Static 99R. (emphasis added)

(R. p. 65)

At an annual review hearing the trial court's role must be limited to the exercise of its gatekeeper function by making a determination of whether either party's evidence is admissible under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. Once the Court made the determination that Dr Lockard was qualified to testify as an expert in forensic psychology then the weight given to her testimony should be left to the exclusive province of the jury empaneled at a subsequent annual release hearing, *See Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174-75 (2010). The trial court judge based his decision upon his own determination of the weight and credibility to be given to Dr Lockard's

testimony. The trial court appeared to use a “preponderance of the evidence standard” in determining that Appellant failed to establish probable cause. Therefore the trial court went beyond its gatekeeper role and usurped the authority of a jury to determine whether it was safe to release Appellant.

The SVP Act provides no specific definition of the term probable cause. *When faced with an undefined statutory term, the term must be interpreted in accordance with its usual and customary meaning. Courts should not merely consider the language of the particular clause being construed, but the undefined word and its meaning in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law.* S.C. Energy Users Comm. v. S.C. PSC, 388 S.C. 486, 492, 697 S.E.2d 587, 590 (2010) *citing* Branch v City of Myrtle Beach, 340 S.C. 405, 409-10, 532 S.E.2d 289, 292 (2000). This court has looked to criminal case law when considering the State’s burden of proof in establishing probable cause under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-80<sup>2</sup>. In Brown v State, the State appealed the trial court’s dismissal of an SVP action for lack of probable cause under § 44-48-80. 372 S.C. 611, 643 S.E.2d 118, (Ct. App. 2007). In reversing the trial court’s decision, the appellate court in Brown cited three South Carolina criminal cases which recognized that probable cause is a flexible, common-sense standard and that very term itself, “probable cause,” does not import absolute certainty. *id.* 372 S.C. at 619, 643 S.E.2d at 122 *citing*, State v. Bowie, 360 S.C. 210, 220, 600 S.E.2d 112, 117 (Ct. App. 2004); State v. Bennett, 256 S.C. 234, 182 S.E.2d 291 (1971); and State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 460 S.E.2d 403 (Ct. App. 1995). The court in Brown further recognized that *probable cause may be found somewhere between suspicion and sufficient*

---

<sup>2</sup>S. C. Code § 44-48-80 (A) Upon filing of a petition, the court must determine whether probable cause exists to believe that the person named in the petition is a sexually violent predator. If the court determines that probable cause exists to believe that the person is a sexually violent predator, the person must be taken into custody if he is not already confined in a secure facility.

*evidence to convict. id* 372 S.C. at 620, 643 S.E.2d at 122 *citing* State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 250, 525 S.E.2d 535, 540-41 (Ct. App. 1999). Under similar circumstances the South Carolina Supreme Court recognized *that probable cause does not demand any showing that such a belief be correct or more likely true than false. In re Care and Treatment of Chandler v. State*, 382 S.C. 250, 257-258, 676 S.E.2d 676, 680 (2009).

Appellant is unaware of any published South Carolina decision addressing the appropriate probable cause standard under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-110. Because of the similarity between the South Carolina and Kansas SVP statues and in the absence of South Carolina precedents this court should consider Kansas state court decisions on this issue as authoritative. *See, In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 135, 568 S.E.2d 338, 344 (2002) (recognizing that a side by side comparison of our SVP Act and the Kansas Act does not reveal any substantial differences). In Brown, this court looked to case law under the Kansas SVP to support its decision that probable under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-80 merely requires *evidence sufficient for a person of ordinary prudence and action to conscientiously entertain a reasonable belief that the person in question is a sexually violent predator. id Brown*, 372 S.C. at 620, 643 S.E.2d at 123 *citing* Matter of Hay, 263 Kan. 822, 953 P.2d 666, 676 (Kan. 1998). On the basis of Dr Lockard's testimony, Appellant established probable cause under the probable cause standard used to evaluate a SVP petition under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-80.

Kansas courts hold that the probable cause showing required from an individual seeking a release hearing from SVP confinement is comparable to the probable cause determination made at the preliminary hearing stage of a criminal proceeding. In re Miles, 47 Kan. App. 2d 429, 434-435, 276 P.3d 232, 236, (Kan. Ct. App. 2012). At these probable cause hearing Kansas court's *must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the committed person and resolve all*

*conflicting evidence in that person's favor. In re Sipe, 44 Kan. App. 2d 584, 592, 239 P.3d 871, 877 (Kan. Ct. App. 2010).* At an SVP annual review hearing Kansas courts must determine whether *there is sufficient evidence to cause a person of ordinary prudence and action to conscientiously entertain a reasonable belief that the committed person's mental abnormality or personality disorder has so changed. In re Miles, 47 Kan. App. 2d 429, 434, 276 P.3d 232, 236 (Kan. Ct. App. 2012).* Dr Lockard's testimony was sufficient to show probable cause under the standard used to evaluate the State's case in criminal preliminary hearing.

Defendants in SVP trials are entitled to protection under the Due Process Clause. Matter of Chapman, 419 S.C. 172, 179, 796 S.E.2d 843, 846 (2017). Appellant was denied due process at the January 16, 2020 annual review hearing because the trial court evaluated his proof under a standard more akin to a preponderance of evidence standard as opposed to *the usual and customary meaning* of the probable cause standard. The conflict in the testimony between Dr. Jones and Dr Lockard created a factual issue of whether it was safe to release Appellant from the SVPTP. The Court's resolution of this factual issue constituted a significant deprivation of Appellant's liberty. The trial Court violated Appellant's due process rights when it deprived Appellant of the right to have a jury decide whether he was now safe for release.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, Appellant asks that this matter be remanded to the Berkeley Circuit Court to set this matter for an annual release hearing in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-110.