RECEIVED

May 18 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
The Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-000697

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment
of Craig A. Carroll,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The record amply supports the circuit court's finding of no probable cause to believe Appellant's mental status had so changed he is safe to be at large.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2017, a jury found Appellant Craig Carroll was a sexually violent predator beyond a reasonable doubt, and he was civilly committed pursuant to the South Carolina Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA). As required by the SVPA, the Department of Mental Health (DMH) reviewed Appellant's mental status annually, and in July 2019, a DMH psychologist issued an annual review report concluding Appellant's mental status had not so changed he was safe to be at large.

After a hearing, at which Appellant appeared and was represented by counsel, the Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge, found there was no probable cause to believe Appellant's mental status had so changed he was safe to be at large, and continued Appellant's civil commitment for long term, control, care and treatment. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In April 2017, a jury found beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant met the criteria for civil commitment pursuant to the SVPA. Thereafter, his mental status was reviewed annually, and each review found Appellant's mental status had not so changed he is safe to be at large.

In July 2019, Michelle A. Jones, J.D., Ph.D., issued an annual review report concluding Appellant's mental status had not so changed he is safe to be at large, and opining he should remain in the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program (SVPTP) for further long term control, care and treatment. Appellant sought and obtained an independent evaluation by Yadira Baez-Lockard, Psy.D, and requested an annual review probable cause hearing, asserting there was probable cause to believe he was safe to be at large.¹ The matter was called for a hearing on January 16, 2020, before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge.

Appellant testified about his involvement in treatment, stating he was currently enrolled in the Phase 2.1 disclosure group. He described the things he was working on in treatment, and what he had learned. He further testified he planned to attend outpatient treatment with Berkeley County Mental Health if he was released, but admitted he did not know if anyone had contacted that office about treating him, and his participation in outpatient treatment would be voluntary. He stated he did not believe he was a risk to reoffend sexually because of his support system (family members), the person he was becoming and what he had learned. (Hearing Transcript [HT], pp. 3-11; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 6-14).

¹The DMH Director did not authorize Appellant to file a release petition. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-120(A) (2018) (Director certifies in writing the resident is safe to be at large and authorizes resident to petition the court for release).

Dr. Baez-Lockhard was qualified as an expert in psychology,² and testified she reviewed the documents from Appellant's original commitment proceeding, his treatment records since his commitment in 2017, and the reports from Appellant's 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 annual reviews. She interviewed Appellant for approximately four hours over three occasions, and conducted psychological testing for an additional three hours. She diagnosed Appellant with antisocial personality disorder, and testified he no longer met the criteria for commitment under the SVPA based on her opinion he was no longer a risk to reoffend sexually. (HT, pp. 13-19; R., pp. 16-22).

Dr. Baez-Lockhard further testified she calculated Appellant's Static-99 score as three, which put him in the average risk to reoffend range when compared to sex offenders who had that score and reoffended. She also stated Appellant only had the dynamic risk factor of "lifestyle impulsiveness" based on his overall patterns of behavior throughout his life, nothing in the records supported any other known dynamic risk factors, and it was her opinion Appellant did not pose an unreasonable risk to reoffend sexually if released. (HT, pp. 19-27; R., pp.22-30).

On cross-examination, Dr. Baez-Lockhard agreed that the Static-99 score she calculated would be higher based on certain facts of which she was unaware. She further acknowledged that even though she concluded Appellant had "finished" his treatment in the SVP Treatment Program, he had only advanced to Phase 2.1 of the four stage treatment program. (HT, pp. 27-32; R., pp. 30-35).

Dr. Michelle Jones was qualified as an expert in forensic psychology, and testified DMH assigned her to conduct Appellant's 2018-2019 annual review. Her protocol included reviewing all documentation and treatment records from the original commitment proceeding through the

²Dr. Biaz-Lockhard stated she was licensed in forensic psychology, but there is no such license issued by the State of South Carolina. She was qualified as an expert in psychology, **not** forensic psychology. (HT, p. 17; R., p. 20).

period at issue in the annual review, scoring the Static-99R and Static-2002R, and interviewing Appellant based on her review of those records. In addition, she gathered Appellant's treatment records for several months prior to the actual hearing to get a sense of how he was progressing in treatment since she issued her report. (HT, pp. 32-35; R., pp. 35-38).

Dr. Jones diagnosed Appellant with antisocial personality disorder. She acknowledged the pre-commitment evaluation included a diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder – biastophilia, but stated she did not have sufficient information to make that diagnosis at the time of the annual review evaluation, and recommended in her report that the issue be explored in treatment. (HT, pp. 35-37; R., pp. 38-40).

Dr. Jones' antisocial personality disorder diagnosis was based on Appellant's behavioral problems, beginning at the age of six and continuing into adulthood. His sexual offenses included molestation of his stepmother's nine year old niece when he was thirteen years old. He had another sexual offense as a juvenile (sixteen years old), and then offended against his minor cousin as an adult. All his sexual offenses involved non-consenting victims. (HT, pp. 38-39; R., pp. 41-42).

Dr. Jones testified Appellant's treatment records indicated that while he was motivated for treatment, he had struggled with issues such as hostility, frustration and defensiveness when challenged about his sexual offenses, and he tended to overstate his treatment progress. Appellant's score on the Static-99R was seven, which was in the well above average risk category, and Dr. Jones explained in detail how she calculated that score. Appellant's score on the Static-2002R was nine, which was also in the well above average risk category. (HT, pp. 40-51); R., pp. 43-54).

In addition to his high Static scores, Dr. Jones found Appellant had numerous dynamic risk factors he needed to address in treatment, including offensive supportive attitudes, lack of

emotionally intimate relationships with adults, poor problem solving, resistance to rules and supervision, grievance and hostility, Machiavellian manipulation, and callousness. She stated Appellant had started learning about his risk factors and demonstrated some progress, but he needed further treatment to reduce his risk to reoffend, and he was not a good candidate for outpatient treatment. (HT, pp. 51-54; R., pp. 54-57).

The circuit court found there was sufficient evidence presented to support the State's contention Appellant still met the criteria for confinement and continued treatment. The court further found releasing Appellant would create a risk of him reoffending, and he should remain confined for treatment. (HT, pp. 56-60, Order Denying Annual Review Hearing, filed January 30, 2020; R., pp. 59-60, 65-66).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“On review, the appellate court will not disturb the hearing court's finding on probable cause unless found to be without evidence that reasonably supports the hearing court's finding.” In re Care and Treatment of Tucker, 353 S.C. 466, 578 S.E.2d 719, 721 (2003); *see also* In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338, 342 (2002) (on appeal of a non-jury law case, the findings of fact will not be disturbed unless found to be without evidentiary support); In re Care & Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (trial court’s probable cause ruling in SVPA annual review hearing will not be disturbed unless there is no evidence reasonably supporting it). When reviewing a trial court’s rulings in a SVPA case, the appellate court will only reverse the trial court if there is no evidence to support the trial judge's ruling. In re Care and Treatment of Harvey, 355 S.C. 53, 584 S.E.2d 893, 896 (2003) (*citing* In re Matthews, 345 S.C. 638, 550 S.E.2d 311, 315 [2001]); Care & Treatment of Brown, 372 S.C. 611, 643 S.E.2d 118, 120–21 (Ct. App. 2007) (same). The appellate court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. Brown, 643 S.E.2d at 121.

ARGUMENT

The record amply supports the circuit court’s finding of no probable cause to believe Appellant’s mental status had so changed he is safe to be at large.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for a new commitment trial and finding no probable cause to believe his mental status has so changed he is safe to be at large. Appellant maintains the mere fact he presented expert testimony indicating he was safe to be at large mandates a finding of probable cause. Appellant’s argument both undermines the purpose of an annual review hearing under the SVPA, and renders the presiding judge irrelevant by reducing the probable cause determination to a mere ministerial act.

In a SVPA annual review probable cause hearing, the committed person has the burden to show there is probable cause to believe his mental condition has so changed he can safely be released from civil commitment. Tucker, 578 S.E.2d at 722; S.C. Code. Ann. §44–48–110 (2018).³ “In the context of probable cause to believe someone to be a sexually violent predator, probable cause requires that the evidence presented would lead a reasonable person to believe and conscientiously entertain suspicion that the person meets the definition of a sexually violent predator.” Care & Treatment of Chandler v. State, 382 S.C. 250, 676 S.E.2d 676, 680 (2009) (quoting In re the Care and Treatment of Brown, 372 S.C. 611, 643 S.E.2d 118, 122–23 [Ct.App.2007]). “Probable cause ‘does not demand any showing that such a belief be correct or more likely true than false.’” Brown, 643 S.E.2d at 123 (quoting Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 742 [1983]). “The very term itself, ‘probable cause,’ does not import absolute certainty.” *Id.* at 118, 122.

³Appellant’s brief indicates he “is unaware of any published South Carolina decision addressing the appropriate probable cause standard under S.C. Code §44-48-110.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 8). To the contrary, Tucker expressly addresses that issue.

In the context of an annual review probable cause hearing under the SVPA, the original commitment proceedings establish the person has a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him likely to commit future acts of sexual violence, and the circuit court must determine whether the evidence presented at an annual review hearing would lead a reasonable person to believe and conscientiously entertain a suspicion the person's mental status has so changed he is now safe to be at large. Making that determination necessarily requires consideration of more than the mere existence of evidence. Rather, the court must consider the credibility of the witnesses and evidence presented. *See State v. Keith*, 356 S.C. 219, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct.App.2003) (probable cause determination requires a practical, common-sense decision based on the totality of evidence presented, "including the veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying information"). If, as Appellant argues, merely presenting an expert at an annual review hearing mandates a finding of probable cause, conducting the hearing itself becomes a meaningless exercise, and the circuit court's role is reduced to a ministerial function. Such a result would be absurd in light of the SVPA's express public safety purpose.

Appellant's reliance on *In re Sipe*, 239 P.3d 871 (Kan. Ct. App. 2010), and *In re Miles*, 276 P.3d 232 (Kan. Ct. App. 2012), is unavailing. In both cases, the lower court's annual review probable cause determinations were based solely on the reports prepared and submitted by experts for the state and the committed person, and the appellate court applied a *de novo* standard of review.⁴ *Sipe*, 239 P.3d at 877; *Miles*, 276 P.3d at 236.

⁴Appellant correctly asserts South Carolina's SVPA was originally premised on the Kansas sexually violent predator statute, and South Carolina appellate courts relied heavily on Kansas case law in interpreting the SVPA. Since originally enacted, however, both the Kansas and South Carolina statutes have been significantly amended, and South Carolina's case law regarding the SVPA no longer relies as heavily on Kansas law. One major difference is South Carolina's appellate standard of review for probable cause determinations.

As in this case, SVPA annual review probable cause hearings are generally full evidentiary hearings with witness testimony rather than determinations based solely on expert reports, and South Carolina appellate courts apply a deferential standard of review for circuit court annual review probable cause determinations. *See Tucker*, 578 S.E.2d at 721-722; S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-110 (2018). Given the circuit court's ability to hear direct and cross-examination of witnesses as well as review submitted reports, the court has an inherent ability to consider the credibility and weight of the evidence before it, and the deferential standard of review recognizes that ability.

In this case, the circuit court received evidence from Dr. Jones detailing Appellant's progress in treatment since he entered the treatment program in 2017, including specific notes by his direct treatment providers, the current status of his mental abnormality and personality disorder, his numerous dynamic risk factors, and the multiple issues he needed to continue addressing in treatment to reduce his risk of reoffending sexually. In contrast, Dr. Biaz-Lockhard relied primarily on Appellant's version of his treatment progress and current status, and ultimately was forced to acknowledge her risk assessment calculation was erroneous because she was unaware of certain facts that substantially increased his risk assessment score. The court also heard Appellant's testimony and was able to judge his credibility directly. The totality of the evidence presented substantiated Dr. Jones' finding that Appellant tended to overstate his treatment progress and current mental status, which directly undermined the basis for, and credibility of, Dr. Biaz-Lockhard's conclusions and opinion regarding Appellant's mental status and risk to reoffend sexually.

There is ample evidence in the record supporting the circuit court's finding of no probable cause to believe Appellant's mental status had so changed he is safe to be at large. Accordingly,

the Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling and Appellant's continued confinement under the SVPA for long term control, care and treatment.


CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully submits the Court should affirm the circuit court finding of no probable cause and Appellant's continued commitment for treatment pursuant to the SVPA.